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Written by: Sue Shutte 
 
A crushing mill dating to 1765 was located where the far western end of the 
present carriage barn is now. Evidence of this earlier structure being 
incorporated in the new structure can be seen in the basement of the barn, with the hand-hewn beams typical of that 
era still present. When the Cooper & Hewitt families purchased the Ringwood Manor property in 1854 and began 
transforming it into a country estate, the building was remodeled for use as a carriage barn. The structure was 
enlarged by the family several times (c. 1860, 1875, 1885, and 1900). These additions brought the structure to its 
present size, an impressive 187 feet in length.  
  

Horses & carriages were utilized for transportation purposes throughout the 19th 
century. But during the Gilded Age of the late 19th century, riding and coaching 
became leisure and sporting activities for the upper classes. Only those with      
expendable income could afford to own, care, and house horses whose sole 
purpose was to be used for fun outings driving around bucolic bridle paths and 
carriages roads. The added expense of having employees on staff to oversee    the 
care of these prized animals, along with cost the riding and driving equipment, and 
equestrian sports could be an expensive pursuit! A carriage barn such as the one at 

Ringwood Manor would only have been found at estates owned by wealthy families.  
 
The sport of driving was something the entire Hewitt family and their guests could enjoy together. Jumping in a 
beautiful carriage and dashing about the winding bridle paths and drives in and around the rolling hills of Ringwood 
allowed people to socialize, enjoy the scenery, and feel the wind in their faces. From sizeable carriages like omnibuses 
and landaus that could hold large parties of riders, to small dog carts and gigs that were generally ridden by one 
person and were designed for speed, to broughams, phaetons, surreys, buggies, there was a different vehicle for every 
person, occasion, and style of driving! 
 
While the entire Hewitt family enjoyed equestrian activities, daughter Sarah Cooper 
Hewitt (1859-1930), fell in love with the sport. While Sarah was an excellent 
equestrian, she was no slouch when it came to the sport of driving. Many of “Miss 
Sally’s” carriages were ordered from the Brewster Carriage Company, located at 
Broome Street in New York City. Brewster’s carriages were of an exceptionally high 
quality. Each could have customizations, from paint colors and leather upholstery to 
better suspension systems and larger wheels for smoother rides. The Hewitt family 
even had their coat-of-arms painted on the sides of the carriages. The orders Miss Sally 
placed show the various upgrades and changes she requested to be made to the 
standard vehicle. She knew exactly what each vehicle needed in order to ensure the carriage not only looked 
beautiful, but also functioned at its best.  Between the years of 1889 and 1900, Sarah Hewitt placed no fewer than 11 
orders for a variety of vehicles.  
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Utilizing decades of knowledge, research, and trial-and-error at Ringwood Manor, Sarah became an expert on the 
subject of driving, producing a scholarly article entitled, Some Suggestions for the Repairs of Country Roads. It was 
published in a variety of respected journals and magazines between 1893 and 1894, including The US Journal of 

Agriculture, Harper’s Weekly, and The Journal of Comparative Medicine and 
Veterinary Archives. She wrote in the opening paragraph of the article: 
 
“I speak from some practical experience acquired in road-making in a very wild 
and hilly region of northern New Jersey, where we are accustomed to work out 
our taxes on 13 or more miles of public highway and by adopting the following 
system we have found it easy to keep the roads in such good condition that they 
can be driven over at all times with speed, comfort, and pleasure.”  
 
 

Recognizing the historic value of her carriages and equestrian equipment, Sarah searched for a location that would 
accept all the items as a group to be displayed and enjoyed by the public. When the Museum of the City of New York 
declined her collection due to lack of space, she approached The Henry Ford Museum, located in Deerfield, Michigan. 
They gladly accepted. In August of 1930, Sarah had four railroad boxcars containing 
nearly 40 carriages, wagons, sleighs, and carts, along with saddles, blankets, clothing, 
and tack shipped to Michigan.  
  
Over time, The Henry Ford Museum sold a portion of the collection, including several 
of Sarah’s carriages. Ringwood Manor, through the help of its non-profit friends 
group the North Jersey Highlands Historical Society, has been fortunate to reacquire 
three of these carriages. Additionally, The Henry Ford Museum, along with the 
Cooper Union archives, have graciously loaned original Hewitt pieces for display. In 
the spring of 2016, using a generous grant from the Brotherton Foundation, restoration work began on the interior of 
the carriage barn on the property. The space as opened to the public in the summer of 2017 and showcases four 
original Hewitt carriages and a multitude of equestrian tack. The exhibit space is open to the public every weekend 
from the beginning of May through the end of October between 11am and 4pm.  

 

 
 
 

   
 

 


